
Copeland Borough Council
The Market Hall
Market Place
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 
 Venue The Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine 

Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ  
 Date: Tuesday, 21st June, 2022 
 Time: 1.00 pm 
 Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby       Tel: 07385 362806 

  
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items 

 
 

 
3.   Chair's Announcements 

 
 

 
4.   Towns Fund - Cleator Moor Town Deal 

 
1 - 14 

 
5.   Industrial Solutions Hub (ISH) and Leconfield funding and Levelling 

Up Fund (LUF) submission. 
15 - 22 

 
 
 
 
Membership: Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman (Chair), Mayor Mike Starkie, 
Councillors David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, 
James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, Jeanette 
Forster, Joseph Ghayouba, Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, Mike Hawkins, 
Tom Higgins, Linda Jones-Bulman (Deputy Chair), Joan Hully, John Kane, 
Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, 
Graham Minshaw, David Moore, Steven Morgan, Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, 
Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Peter Tyson, Carl Walmsley, Eileen Weir, 
Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson. 
 
 
Contacts: Direct Dial: 07385 362806 
 E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
 Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Full Council 21/06/2022 
 
TOWNS FUND – CLEATOR MOOR TOWN DEAL 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mayor Mike Starkie 
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, Chief Executive 
REPORT AUTHOR: Sarah Mitchell, Economic Development Manager 

 
SUMMARY: 
To update Council on the current position regarding the Cleator Moor Town 
Deal and request acceptance of potential match funding applications to 
deliver the Town Investment Plan. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
(a)   that the Council notes that in compliance with the Heads of Terms 
offer issued on 8th June 2021 that four business case summary documents 
are being submitted to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) towards drawing down funding of up to £22.5m in 
the respect of the Town Deal bid for Cleator Moor by 30th June 2022; 
 
(b)   that the Council notes the update on the projects with business cases 
developed to deliver the Cleator Moor Town Investment Plan, including 
costs, outputs and outcomes, timescales and key risks and mitigations 
raised through the Business Case Assurance process and where the Council 
(CBC) is Project Owner; 
 
(c) Subject to (a) the applications for external grant/match funding being 
successful and (b) the Chief Executive in consultation with the Elected 
Mayor and Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee being satisfied with 
any grant conditions imposed that the proposed receipt of up to 
£6,726,034 against current applications to potential external funders, 
including Copeland Community Fund and Sellafield Ltd Social Impact Fund, 
to support Cleator Moor Town Deal be approved.  The approval is made on 
the basis that the external income will be reflected in the Council’s capital 
budget with spend then being dealt with in accordance with schemes 
submitted and in accordance with contract standing orders and financial 
regulations and otherwise in accordance with the Council’s constitution; 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
(d)   that the Council notes that the expectation is that Cleator Moor Town 
Deal will be advised if it is successful by Autumn 2022.  
 
(e)   that a further report on the Millom Town Deal business cases and 
seeking similar approvals in respect of external funding be submitted to 
Council on the 20th July 2002. 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The last report to members on Cleator Moor Town Deal was at 

Council on 7th December 2021 where the Council as Accountable 
Body/ Lead Authority was updated on the confirmed projects being 
taken forward to deliver the Town Investment Plan, key milestones 
and status of the grant offer from the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) – of up to £22.5M in respect of 
the Town Deal bid for Cleator Moor. 
 

1.2 At that meeting, the Council was also advised that following the 
project confirmation that work had progressed on the development 
of business cases to allow the submission of Business Case summary 
documents by the end of June 2022 in line with the Heads of Terms 
agreement. 

 
1.3 This update provides the latest position on the business cases prior 

to summary document submission and requests formal grant 
acceptance for match funding required to deliver the Town 
Investment Plan. 

 
2. PROPOSALS  
 
2.1 On 25th August 2021, the Council as Accountable Body and the 

Cleator Moor Town Deal Board confirmed that they wished to take 
forward the five projects outlined in the Town Investment Plan 
(Appendix A).  Work commenced on all five projects to develop the 

Page 2



detail required to complete the Business Cases to HMT Green Book 
standard. 

 
2.2 At the end of March 2022, the Council as Accountable Body and the 

Cleator Moor Town Deal Board were advised by the University of 
Central Lancashire (UCLan) that the Campus Town project was not 
proceeding as UCLan had concluded that even with grant funding, 
the business case was not viable from a long-term investment 
perspective.  This paper focuses on an overview of the remaining four 
projects being taken forward.  It should be noted that the current 
grant offer against the remaining four projects totals £19,750,000.   A 
Project Adjustment Request has been submitted to DLUHC to ask for 
the grant to Campus Town (£2,750,000) to be reallocated to the 
remaining four projects, keeping Town Deal investment into Cleator 
Moor at £22,500,000.  At the time of writing this report DLUHC is still 
to advise on their decision regarding this request. 

 
2.3 As well as holding the Accountable Body role as Lead Authority, the 

Council is also Project Owner for Enterprising Town; Revitalised Town 
and Healthy Town.  Cumbria County Council (CCC) is Project Owner 
for Connected Town and a grant agreement will be drawn up with 
CCC as external Project Owner, noting that during the period of 
project delivery both CBC and CCC will transfer into the Cumberland 
Authority. 

 
2.4 In line with the Town Deal process, only summary documents are 

submitted to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) and responsibility for ensuring business cases 
meet the required ‘Green Book’ standard lies with the local 
Accountable Body (Copeland Borough Council).  The assurance 
process has been undertaken in line with the agreed Local Assurance 
Framework and is in accordance with the Five Case Model, which is 
the Government’s best practice approach to developing proposals in 
a holistic way that optimises public value produced using public 
resources.  Overall appraisers recommend that all four projects be 
supported. 

 

Page 3



2.4 The four projects with developed Business Cases at current grant 
offer that are being submitted as summary documents to DLUHC are: 
 

2.5 Enterprising Town – phase 1 delivery of the ISH project is developing 
an enterprise campus on the semi-derelict Leconfield Industrial 
Estate, aimed at leveraging the economic growth potential of the 
Sellafield supply chain, through a cluster approach to growing and 
diversifying the West Cumbria economy. 
  Project owner is Copeland Borough Council 
  Project value – £20.97M 

o Towns Fund allocation – £7.05M 
o Match funding – £13.92M to be delivered from public grant 

and private funding.  Only £2.6M of Enterprising Town 
match is brought forward under this paper, the remainder 
has already been approved by Council or is outlined in the 
iSH paper also on this agenda. 

  Value for Money – the Preferred Option delivers a Benefit-Cost 
Ratio (BCR) of 2.29:1, which according to HM Treasury Guidance is 
‘high value for money’. 

  Outputs: 
o 2,490 sqm Increased floorspace for skills development and 

employability and shared workspace supporting innovation 
and entrepreneurship 

o 1,970 sqm Refurbished commercial floorspace 
o 78 Temporary FTE jobs supported during project 

implementation  
o 130 Permanent FTE jobs created  

  Outcomes: 
o £39.8 million net additional GVA over the 10-year appraisal 

period 
o £6.2 million wider land value uplift 
o Catalyse further investment and job creation 

  Impact: 
o Growth in sustainable quality jobs in the town, inclusive and 

across a range of skills and educational levels. 

Page 4



o Enhanced townscape that is more attractive and more 
accessible to residents, businesses and visitors. 

o Increased number of enterprises utilising high quality, 
affordable and sustainable commercial spaces. 

o Increased share of young people and adults who have 
relevant skills for employment and entrepreneurship. 

  The expected completion is by March 2024. 
  Key risks/mitigations from the assurance process for CBC as 

project owner are: 
o to confirm the commercial operator model as the project 

moves to contracting; 
o to revise and update the business case at key stages to 

determine the whole life costs/income of the project to 
ensure adequate whole life costs are funded; 

o to provide evidence of planning approval for each element 
of the project. 

 
2.6 Revitalised Town – creating an enhanced focal point to increase 

activity and footfall around the Town Square through bringing vacant 
and under-utilised buildings back into active use, set within an 
attractive new public realm.  Uses will include a new cultural 
community hub and enhanced business space. 
  Project owner is Copeland Borough Council 
  Project value – £5.18M 

o Towns Fund allocation – £4.43M 
o Match funding – £0.75M which is part secured, with 

remainder to be delivered from public grant. 
  Value for Money – the Preferred Option delivers a Benefit-Cost 

Ratio (BCR) of 2.67:1, which according to HM Treasury Guidance is 
‘high value for money’. 

  Outputs: 
o 2 heritage buildings restored – Town Hall and Library 

Building 
o 1 cultural facility improved 
o 583 sqm office space improved 
o 219 sqm other enterprise space improved 

Page 5



o 220 sqm new retail, leisure or food and beverage space  
o 2,495 sqm public realm improved  

  Outcomes: 
o 5 new SMEs attracted 
o 29 new jobs created 
o 350 learners undertaking employability training and 

confidence building activities 
o 300-400 young people interacted with and with at least 

50% reporting improved confidence 
  Impact: 

o £3.8 million in Wider Land Value Uplift resulting from 
improved local community services and greater availability 
of high-quality commercial space for small businesses. 

o £3.8 million in Social Value, as a result of increased 
employability training undertaken and improved levels of 
confidence. 

o £9.9 million in GVA generated as a result of direct, indirect 
and induced job creation. 

  The expected completion is by June 2025. 
  Key risks/mitigations from the assurance process for CBC as 

project owner are: 
o to provide evidence of relevant landowner permissions in 

line with project milestones; 
o to revise and update the business case to reflect the further 

stages of design throughout the development process; 
o to clarify project management arrangements and budget 

regarding identified procured costs. 
 
2.7 Healthy Town – enhanced sports and leisure provision through the 

redevelopment of existing provision, to provide a modern multi-
purpose centre including an indoor sports hall, flexible studio space, 
gym and café, alongside wider health and well-being provision. 
  Project owner is Copeland Borough Council 
  Project value – £5.87M 

o Towns Fund allocation – £2.75M 

Page 6



o Match funding – £3.12M which is part secured, with 
remainder to be delivered from public grant. 

  Value for Money – the Preferred Option delivers a Benefit-Cost 
Ratio (BCR) of 1.92:1, which according to HM Treasury Guidance is 
‘medium value for money’. 

  Outputs: 
o 1 improved sports facility  
o 110,000 additional visits per annum to the sports facility  
o 30 construction jobs 
o 125 new learners assisted  

  Outcomes: 
o £7.5 million benefits of health and well-being 

improvements 
o £2.4 million wider LVU 
o System savings as a result of reduction in use of NHS 

services 
  Impact: 

o Improved Health and well-being of Cleator Moor residents – 
leading to a more economically active population. 

o Increase in self-confidence and self-esteem, pride and 
belonging. 

o More inclusive town centre offer and better facilities for 
young people and underrepresented groups, making it a 
better place to live, work, visit and invest. 

  The expected completion is by September 2024. 
  Key risks/mitigations from the assurance process for CBC as 

project owner are: 
o to provide evidence/confirmation of match funding; 
o to clarify SRO arrangements. 

 
2.8 Connected Town – delivering a programme of transport and related 

public realm interventions to facilitate a high-quality integrated and 
sustainable transport network, which improves connections between 
employment, education, amenities and leisure, and transforms the 
accessibility and attractiveness of Cleator Moor. 
  Project owner is Cumbria County Council 
  Project value – £5.54M 

Page 7



o Towns Fund allocation – £5.52M 
o Match funding – £0.02M which is secured. 

  Value for Money – the Preferred Option delivers a Benefit-Cost 
Ratio (BCR) of 2.76:1, which according to HM Treasury Guidance is 
‘high value for money’. 

  Outputs: 
o 3.8km new and upgraded walking and cycling paths  
o 3 major junction improvements  
o 55 construction jobs  
o 1600 sqm of public realm at Wath Brow and the Town 

Square  
  Outcomes: 

o Increased modal shift away from private vehicle to walking 
or cycling.  

o Economic Benefit of £17.2 million.  
o Health benefits arising as a result of improved pedestrian 

priority and wayfinding £2.9 million (2021 prices).  
o Wider Land Value Uplift benefits of £4.8 million from 

increased prices of household and commercial properties. 
  Impacts: 

o Enhanced townscape and place making to improve 
perceptions of place, increase investor confidence and 
encourage footfall and economic activity, including £2.2m 
(2021 prices) of journey ambience benefits. 

o Improved intra-urban connections, better navigability and 
experience of the town centre.  

  The expected completion is by November 2025. 
  Key risks/mitigations from the assurance process for CCC as 

project owner are: 
o to provide evidence of relevant landowner permissions in 

line with project milestones; 
o to provide evidence of the completed procurements 

including assessment and the award of the contract in the 
quarter they are completed, accompanied by the latest cost 
plan to ensure works remain deliverable within the 
available funding; 

Page 8



o to provide a Monitoring and Evaluation Plan for the 
relevant outputs and outcomes. 

 
2.9 CBC has submitted applications to potential external funders for up 

to £6,726,034 in match funding to support Cleator Moor Town Deal 
and deliver the Town Investment Plan.  Additional applications to 
provide further match funding against Enterprising Town have been 
reported separately to Council under this agenda. 
 

2.10 The Business Case Summary documents will be submitted by 30th 
June 2022 with a Monitoring and Evaluation Plan, reporting on 
relevant indicators and targets also required.   
 

3 CONCLUSIONS 
 

1.1 Since Heads of Terms were agreed in June 2021, a significant amount 
of work has been undertaken to confirm projects and develop Green 
Book compliant business cases that have been appraised and assured 
as robust, deliverable, aligned to a clear case for intervention and 
representing good value for money. 
 

1.2 The Summary Documents are the final stage for the Town Deal Board 
and CBC to secure Towns Fund investment and additional match 
funding in Cleator Moor with the resulting opportunity through the 
delivery of the Town Investment Plan for regeneration of the town 
and improved economic prosperity. 
 

2 COMMENTS AND CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1 EIA Comments: Each project has carried out an Equality Impact 

Assessment, which have then been reviewed to inform a programme-
level report, which also reflects on how the Town Investment Plan as 
a whole can promote equality and deliver positive impacts. 

 
4.2 Climate/Environmental Impact Commentary: A cross-cutting theme 

under Towns Fund is the promotion of the low carbon agenda and 
the TIP was guided by sustainability and supporting the commitment 

Page 9



to clean growth investment.  All the projects have environmental 
commitments and improvements built into the project scope and 
budgets. 

 
4.3 Policy Framework: The Council’s Corporate Strategy, Economic Vision 

and underpinning suite of Plans, Policies and Strategies shape our 
work on the local economy and its impact to our residents and our 
responsibilities and role as a District Council.  The Corporate Plan 
states the Council’s ambition to deliver town centre regeneration 
which is reflected in the existing Economic Development Service Plan. 

 
4.4 Other consultee comments, if any: These recommendations have 

been put before Cleator Moor Town Deal Board for consideration 
and endorsement. 

 
3 LGR COMMENTARY 
 
5.1 Cleator Moor Town Deal will be contractually agreed with DLUHC as 

will partner grant agreements and procured delivery commissions.  
All legal agreements will be carried forward into the new authority.   
 

5.2 In respect of operational delivery some transactions may require the 
consent of the Cumberland Council, as shadow authority.  The 
Secretary of State has issued a direction which effectively states that 
land disposals and capital/non-capital contracts above a certain 
amount require shadow authority consent.  The shadow authority 
can, however, alter those amounts by issuing a general consent to 
transactions where a specific consent of that authority would not 
then have to be obtained.  This question of providing a general 
consent to the seven authorities is being considered by the 
Cumberland Council’s shadow Executive on the 15th June 2022.  Once 
the position is known it will then be possible to factor into process 
any need to obtain specific consents from the shadow authority. 
 

4 RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

4.1 The current Towns Fund commitment from DLUHC (£19.75M) 
provides 53% of funding required to deliver the four projects under 

Page 10



the Cleator Moor Town Deal – if funding from the Campus Town 
project is reallocated to secure £22.5M from Towns Fund this will be 
60% of funding to deliver the Town Investment Plan.  CBC is Project 
Owner for three of the four projects.     
 

4.2 Additional match funding of up to £6,726,034 is currently being 
sought through grant applications for the following CBC projects: 
  £2,600,000 for Enterprising Town, plus the Council is separately 

pursuing further match funding, which is reported under a 
separate paper as part of this Council agenda; 

  £386,950 for Revitalised Town; 
  £3,119,084 for Healthy Town; 
  £620,000 for Town Deal programme delivery. 
 

5 HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 

5.1 To date, stages 1 and 2 (TIP and Business Case development) of the 
Towns Fund process has been managed by the Economic 
Development team and in respect of Town Deal Board meetings by 
the Electoral and Democratic Services team.  The Chief Executive 
holds the role of Project Sponsor with the Corporate Leadership 
Team overseeing the programme.   
 

5.2 For the delivery phase, a Head of Towns Fund will be brought in to 
oversee the delivery of the capital programme and take the role of 
Senior Responsible Officer, with the support of a Programme Co-
ordinator.  The Democratic Services team will continue to support 
Town Deal Board meetings. 
 

5.3 Individual projects have been managed by internal resources or 
where no internal capacity is in place, through external commissions.  
For the delivery phase funding is in place through the Town Deal to 
appoint Project Managers to deliver the individual projects and this is 
currently being explored through secondment and external 
commissions to provide the skills and capacity required. 
 

Page 11



5.4 Programme and project risk registers are in place and will continue to 
be regularly reviewed and reported through Council monitoring and 
reporting processes. 
 

6 WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 
THIS REPORT? 
 

6.1 The outputs and outcomes from each project are detailed within the 
report above.   
 

7 STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 
 

7.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:   
This report provides an update to members on progressing the Town 
Fund projects as previously endorsed by Council.  The main purpose 
of this report is to seek Council’s approval to progressing applications 
for and, if successful, receiving additional external grant funding.  
Financial regulations require amendments to budget and receipt of 
external funding over £500,000 to be approved by Council. 

 
Financial regulations require certain matters to be taken into account 
before external funding is accepted.  These matters are ‘(i) to ensure 
that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in the 
policy framework by the full council; (ii) that any match-funding 
requirements are given due consideration prior to entering into long-
term agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these 
requirements; (iii) that, where appropriate (in the view of the 
decision maker) a management fee is charged for the costs of 
administering such accountable bodies; and (iv) that any claw back 
conditions are considered prior to accepting the grant’. 

 
As the applications are in process, any specific grant conditions which 
may be imposed are not known at this stage.  From previous receipts 
of grant from the specified grant funders it is very likely that the 
conditions will be acceptable.  However, until a grant offer 
materialises, we cannot be certain of this.  For this reason, Council is 
asked to endorse the principle of the grants being received and to 

Page 12



delegate to the Chief Executive, the Mayor and the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee acceptance of the grant if they are 
satisfied that financial regulations requirements are satisfied. 

 
As mentioned in paragraph 2.3 a separate legal agreement will be 
entered into with Cumbria County Council for delivery of the 
Connected Towns Project. 

 
Numerous operational legal issues arise from delivery of the projects 
(e.g. build contracts and property agreements) and these will be 
dealt with at the appropriate time. 

 
The only remaining outstanding legal issue at this time is state aid/ 
subsidy control.  External legal advice has already been received as 
part of the business case assurance process for the Towns Fund 
grant; further advice will be sought on the above external grants and 
this will be reported into the final decision process to the Chief 
Executive, Mayor and Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

7.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:  
The Governance and resource implications relating to the submission 
to the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities of the 
Town Investment Plans has previously been set out for Council. The 
proposed allocation of up to £22.5million has been set out in this 
report. The capital budget for 2022/23 agreed by Council in February 
included a profiled allocation of for the Cleator Moor Town Deal 
projects, this will need to be updated once the necessary approvals 
have been received.  

 
As set out in previous Town Deal reports to the Executive; the 
projects are expected to be delivered with no revenue implications 
for the Council above the budgeted level unless additional revenue 
resources can be identified. The projects remain financially viable 
based on the latest project financial modelling with revenue 
resources identified for each project that does not exceed the 
Council’s budget. There are however financial revenue and capital 
risks associated with each project that will need to be mitigated to 

Page 13



ensure there is no undue financial risks for the Council. There are also 
program delivery risks that will need to be managed within available 
resources to ensure sufficient technical skills and resources are 
available at the appropriate stages of the projects to deliver against 
this complex program. 
 
  

 
List of Appendices  
 
None 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
Cleator Moor Town Investment Plan - PDF - Final.pdf   
 

Page 14

file:///C:/Users/smitchell/OneDrive%20-%20Copeland%20Borough%20Council/Documents%20-%20Economic%20Development/Towns%20Fund/Cleator%20Moor%20Town%20Deal/MHCLG%20submission%20Jan%202021/Cleator%20Moor%20Town%20Investment%20Plan%20-%20PDF%20-%20Final.pdf


Full Council 21st June 2022 
 
Industrial Solutions Hub (ISH) and Leconfield funding and 
Levelling Up Fund (LUF) submission 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER:  Councillor David Moore 
LEAD OFFICER:              Pat Graham, Chief Executive 
REPORT AUTHOR:        Steve Smith 
 
SUMMARY: 
The Industrial Solutions Hub (ISH) will deliver new economic activity and job 
prospects for Copeland and Cumberland residents, reducing the reliance on 
the Sellafield site as an economic driver but utilising the skills and expertise 
in the nuclear supply chain workforce to stimulate economic diversification. 
In tandem with the Cleator Moor Town Deal and the Councils acquisition of 
Leconfield Industrial Estate plans for rolling out the development of the ISH 
company and the Enterprise campus at Leconfield will have specific 
benefits to Cleator Moor and its residents. This report specifically seeks 
Council approval to accept the offer of grant funding towards the costs of 
the operation of the iSH company and the development of the Enterprise 
campus at Leconfield. It is also seeking Council approval to accept funding 
from the Government’s Levelling Up Fund for further development of the 
Enterprise campus at Leconfield, should a proposed application be 
successful. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
1. That Council agree to accept the offer of;  
a) Funding of £2.329m from the Sellafield social impact fund to cover 

the first year of operation of the iSH company and site planning 
activities (design, surveys etc) needed to progress the Leconfield 
Phase 1 Town Deal Enterprising Town development programme 
during April – September 2022).   

b) Funding from the NDA socio economic fund of £7m (subject to a 
positive outcome to consideration of the application at a meeting 
of the NDA Group Investment Committee) to support 
redevelopment of the Leconfield Industrial Estate as the iSH 
Enterprise Campus.  This will also act as match funding towards the 
costs of the Cleator Moor Town Deal Enterprising Town scheme.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



2. Support the re-submission of a bid to the Government’s Levelling 
Up Fund Round 2 focused on the development of future phases of 
the ISH Enterprise Campus at Leconfield on land currently in the 
ownership of the Council with a complementary programme of 
community skills and training provision, and subject to a positive 
outcome to the application agree to recommend to Council 
acceptance of the offer of funding. 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report covers three specific and interrelated areas of activity 

regarding funding for the wider iSH programme. 
 

1.2      The iSH Company 

Members will recall at the Council meeting on 22nd February a 
proposal to establish the iSH company was agreed subject to a 
number of conditions including the receipt of funding from the 
Sellafield social impact fund, and funding in the sum of £1.35m was 
accepted by the Council for the first-year operational costs of the 
company. The report identified that the outcome of the funding 
application was still to be determined. 

1.3  Development of the iSH Enterprise campus Phase 1  
 

           Separately an application for grant funding towards the costs of 
constructing the first phase of the iSH Enterprise Campus was made 
to the NDA’s social economic fund. This application in the sum of 
£7m is subject to assessment by NDA and a decision is expected in 
mid-June.  This funding would also act as match funding for the 
Enterprising Town scheme in the Cleator Moor Town Deal, should 
that application be successful.  

 
 
 

1.4      Future phases of the iSH Enterprise campus  

Page 16



In June last year the Council submitted a bid to the UK 
Government’s Levelling Up Fund for funding to support the 
extension of the iSH Enterprise campus through the development of 
the Industrial Estate and adjoining land. This application was 
unsuccessful but earlier this year Government announced that a 
second funding round for LUF will be made available. Following 
positive feedback on last year’s submission, the intention is to 
submit a revised bid by the deadline of 7th July. 

 
2. DISCUSSION AND UPDATE 
 
2.1        Progress on each of the 3 areas of activity described above is as         

follows. 
 
2.2      The iSH Company  

The application to the Sellafield socio-economic fund to support the 
establishment of the iSH company has now been completed, and 
Sellafield have written to CBC to confirm such, and a grant offer 
letter has been drafted. This includes the sum of £1.35m as 
originally reported to Council in February. The terms and conditions 
of grant have been assessed by the Council’s s151 officer and 
Monitoring Officer. 

2.3. Development of the iSH Enterprise campus Phase 1  
 

The same grant application above also contained a request for 
funding support for preparation works in support of the 
development of Phase 1 of the iSH Enterprise campus as the Cleator 
Moor Town Deal Enterprising Town scheme, including site planning 
activities (design, surveys etc) needed to progress the Leconfield 
development programme during April – September 2022.  
Members are asked to accept the offer of grant in the total sum of 
£2.329m for the detailed activities described in 2.2 and 2.3 above. 

 
In addition, in support of the actual delivery (rather than 
preparation works) of the iSH Enterprise Campus, an application for 

Page 17



funding to the NDA for £7m has been submitted. This will also act as 
match funding to the Enterprising Town theme of the Cleator Moor 
Town Deal should that application be successful, as phase 1 of the 
ISH Enterprise campus development. This is to be considered at a 
meeting of the NDA Group Investment Committee on 15th June. 
Subject to a positive response to this application Members of 
Council are asked accept the offer of funding.   

 
A separate report elsewhere on this agenda regarding the funding 
of the Town Deal schemes in general will confirm that an additional 
application to the Sellafield social value fund of £2.6m as match 
funding for the delivery phase of the Cleator Moor Enterprising 
Town project is also being progressed. 
 

2.4. Future phases of the iSH Enterprise Campus  
 
In the Government’s recent announcement that there would be a 
second round of applications to the Levelling Up Fund it also 
published a revised list of priority areas for funding. Copeland 
Borough has been identified as a priority 1 area for funding this time 
round enhancing the potential for a successful outcome. For last 
year’s application it was a priority 2 area. Following positive 
feedback from Government officials on the previous submission, the 
intention is to submit a revised bid by the July 7th deadline. In line 
with the bidding guidance and the feedback from last year, this 
year’s submission will focus on the development opportunities 
associated with land currently in the ownership of the Council at 
Leconfield and include a range of programmes which will support 
local residents in engaging with the job and training opportunities 
that will be enabled by the site. The bid is currently being developed 
building on proposals in the last submission. The maximum grant 
available is £20m. Proposals are still being finalised but a grant 
request of up to £15m against a total development cost between 
£40 - £45m is being considered, the balance of funding coming from 
private sector investment to be secured. Decisions on LUF2 
applications are expected in the autumn. Funding from the LUF 
needs to be spent by March 2025. Council Members are asked to 

Page 18



note and support the development and submission of this 
application and subject to a positive outcome to the application, to 
agree to accept the funding. 

 
3. CONCLUSIONS 
 

3.1 The acceptance of the funding offers will provide finance to enable 
the first phase of the iSH development at Leconfield to be taken 
forward and allow the iSH company to work with the supply chain 
and academic institutions and begin to develop its programme of 
activities to create a specific business cluster for Copeland and 
Cumberland. Not accepting the funding would seriously delay the 
delivery of the considerable benefits associated with developing 
Leconfield Industrial Estate as the iSH Campus, as well as delaying 
the implementation of the Town Deal, undermining the 
development of the Council’s flagship economic development 
intervention through iSH and the associated ambitions to bring 
about socio-economic improvements for the benefit of Copeland 
residents. Bidding for LUF round 2 funding will increase the pace for 
the development of the opportunities at Leconfield and enhance 
the delivery of social and economic benefits to residents of 
Copeland and Cumberland. 
 

3.2 This report seeks Council agreement to accept grant offers from SL 
and NDA socio economic funds to help deliver the iSH company and 
campus and Cleator Moor Town Deal Enterprising Town, and 
support to the submission of an application for LUF2 funding for 
future phases of the development of Leconfield Industrial Estate as 
the iSH Enterprise Campus. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4.     COMMENTS AND CONSIDERATIONS 
 

Page 19



4.1 EIA Comments:  
Equality Impact Assessments will be completed for any projects that 
the funding in question is allocated to. 

 
4.2 Climate/Environmental Impact Commentary:  

While this report does not have any direct climate or environmental 
impacts, the expenditure of the funding in question will be done so 
in line with the Council’s agreed Sustainability Strategy and 
Copeland Vision 2040. As such, acceptance of these funds will 
enable and accelerate a number of initiatives that are designed to 
create social, economic and environmental benefits for people and 
communities in Copeland. Any physical development at Leconfield 
will be required to comply with the policies of the Copeland Local 
Plan, and as such will constitute sustainable development. 

 
4.3 Policy Framework: N/A 
 
4.4 Other consultee comments, if any: N/A 
 
5. LGR COMMENTARY  

 
5.1        There will shortly be a direction from the Secretary of State under  

section 24 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 restricting what transactions can be entered into by 
the Council without the consent of the Cumberland Council shadow 
authority. In parallel the Cumberland Council’s shadow authority 
can issue a general consent for certain transactions under which no 
specific consent will be required. The draft direction and general 
consent are still being considered. Once issued, then depending on 
the amounts stipulated, the specific consent of the shadow 
authority may be required to the transactions set out in this report.   

 
 
 
 
 
6. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Page 20



6.1        There are no additional resource requirements required to deliver      
this. 
 
7. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 

THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
7.1 The process will be led by the Chief Executive with support of key 
officers both within the Council and the iSH company. 
 
8.        WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 

THIS REPORT? 
 
8.1  The funding will help the Council to deliver benefits to the 
community through supporting the progression of key regeneration priority 
projects and delivering services for the benefit of local residents and 
businesses. 
 
 
9. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 
 
9.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: 
The Council is receiving funding from Sellafield Limited and the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority. State aid/subsidy control will need to be 
considered. Independent advice on the Towns Fund grant for the 
Enterprising Town project indicates that there is the provision of subsidy; 
that the level of public funding is above the threshold for the application of 
the relevant subsidy control rules and that it is not within the scope of an 
exemption.  It is therefore necessary to assess whether it satisfies the 
principles for lawful subsidy set out in the subsidy control rules. Further 
advice is being sought on this point and also the fact that the grant is being 
given to a wholly controlled local authority company. 
In respect of any grant passed on to Industrial Solutions Hub   
Cumbria Limited, once incorporated, this will be the subject of a  
grant agreement between the Council and that Company. This  
agreement will largely mirror the grant agreements from Sellafield  
Limited and the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority to the  
Council.  

Page 21



 
In respect of process, financial regulations state that receiving grants  
of this amount and accepting them into the budget, are for Council.  
Once approved, delivery lies with the Executive. 
 
9.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:  
The financial implications are set out in this report and previous reports 
approved by the Executive and Council. 
 
 

Page 22


	Agenda
	4 Towns Fund - Cleator Moor Town Deal
	SUMMARY:
	To update Council on the current position regarding the Cleator Moor Town Deal and request acceptance of potential match funding applications to deliver the Town Investment Plan.
	RECOMMENDATIONS:
	(a)   that the Council notes that in compliance with the Heads of Terms offer issued on 8th June 2021 that four business case summary documents are being submitted to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) towards drawing down funding of up to £22.5m in the respect of the Town Deal bid for Cleator Moor by 30th June 2022;
	(b)   that the Council notes the update on the projects with business cases developed to deliver the Cleator Moor Town Investment Plan, including costs, outputs and outcomes, timescales and key risks and mitigations raised through the Business Case Assurance process and where the Council (CBC) is Project Owner;
	(c)	Subject to (a) the applications for external grant/match funding being successful and (b) the Chief Executive in consultation with the Elected Mayor and Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee being satisfied with any grant conditions imposed that the proposed receipt of up to £6,726,034 against current applications to potential external funders, including Copeland Community Fund and Sellafield Ltd Social Impact Fund, to support Cleator Moor Town Deal be approved.  The approval is made on the basis that the external income will be reflected in the Council’s capital budget with spend then being dealt with in accordance with schemes submitted and in accordance with contract standing orders and financial regulations and otherwise in accordance with the Council’s constitution;
	(d)   that the Council notes that the expectation is that Cleator Moor Town Deal will be advised if it is successful by Autumn 2022.
	(e)   that a further report on the Millom Town Deal business cases and seeking similar approvals in respect of external funding be submitted to Council on the 20th July 2002.
	1.	INTRODUCTION
	2.	PROPOSALS
	List of Appendices
	None
	List of Background Documents:

	5 Industrial Solutions Hub (ISH) and Leconfield funding and Levelling Up Fund (LUF) submission.
	SUMMARY:
	RECOMMENDATIONS:
	1.	That Council agree to accept the offer of;
	a)	Funding of £2.329m from the Sellafield social impact fund to cover the first year of operation of the iSH company and site planning activities (design, surveys etc) needed to progress the Leconfield Phase 1 Town Deal Enterprising Town development programme during April – September 2022).
	1.	INTRODUCTION
	2.	DISCUSSION AND UPDATE
	2.1        Progress on each of the 3 areas of activity described above is as         follows.
	3.	CONCLUSIONS




